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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
LENNON IMAGE TECHNOLOGIES, 
LLC, 
 
 Plaintiff, 

 
 v. 
 
CONDÉ NAST PUBLICATIONS, INC., 
CONDÉ NAST DIGITAL D/B/A CONDÉ 
NAST, ADVANCE MAGAZINE 
PUBLISHERS, INC., CONDÉ NAST 
AMERICAS, L.C., AND CONDÉ NAST 
DIGITAL LIMITED, 
 
 Defendants. 
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§ 
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Civil Action No. 12-905-SLR 
 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
PLAINTIFF’S FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT  

TO CONDÉ NAST PUBLICATIONS, INC., CONDÉ NAST DIGITAL D/B/A  
CONDÉ NAST, ADVANCE MAGAZINE PUBLISHERS, INC.,  

CONDÉ NAST AMERICAS, L.C., AND CONDÉ NAST DIGITAL LIMITED 
 

Plaintiff Lennon Image Technologies, LLC (“LIT”) files this First Amended Complaint 

against Condé Nast Publications, Inc., Condé Nast Digital d/b/a Condé Nast, Advance Magazine 

Publishers, Inc., Condé Nast Americas, L.C. and Condé Nast Digital Limited (“Defendants” or 

“Condé Nast”) and alleges as follows: 

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Lennon Image Technologies, LLC is a Texas Limited Liability Company 

with its principal place of business at 1910 East Southeast Loop 323, #244, Tyler, Texas  75701. 

2. Upon information and belief, Defendants Condé Nast Publications, Inc., Condé 

Nast Digital d/b/a Condé Nast, and Advance Magazine Publishers Inc. are corporations 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with their principal place of 

business located at 4 Times Square, New York, New York  10036.  These Defendants may be 
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served with process through their registered agent, Corporation Service Company, 2711 

Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, Delaware 19808.   

3. Upon information and belief, Defendant Condé Nast Americas, LC is a 

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, with its principal place 

of business located at 4 Times Square, New York, New York  10036.  This Defendant may be 

served with process through its registered agent Corporation Service Company 1201 Hays St., 

Tallahassee, FL  32301-2699.   

4. Upon information and belief, Defendant Condé Nast Digital Limited is 

incorporated in the United Kingdom with its principal place of business located at Vogue House, 

Hanover Square, London, W1S 1JU, United Kingdom.  The Defendant may be served with 

process through International Registered Certified Mail at Vogue House, Hanover Square, 

London, W1S 1JU, United Kingdom. 

BACKGROUND 
 

5. On information and belief, Defendants Condé Nast are in the business of 

publishing media brands, including consumer magazines, websites, and application for mobile 

and tablet devices and derive revenue from sales and distribution of their goods and/or services, 

including sales under the brand “Tatler” and “Brides.” 

6. On information and belief, Defendants Condé Nast engage in electronic 

commerce conducted on and using at least, but not limited to, the websites www.tatler.com and 

www.tatler.com/news/articles/2011-06/15/tatler-jewellery-promotion.  

7. On information and belief, Defendants Condé Nast engage in electronic 

commerce conducted on and using at least, but not limited to, the websites www.brides.com and 

http://www.brides.com/wedding-dresses-style/dressingroom.   
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8. On information and belief, Defendants Condé Nast have engaged in such business 

activities in this District and continue to engage in such activities in this District.  On information 

and belief, Defendants Condé Nast own, operate, and/or direct the operation of the website 

www.tatler.com, which has an apparatus for manipulating a customer image corresponding to a 

customer at www.tatler.com/news/articles/2011-06/15/tatler-jewellery-promotion (“Virtual 

Fitting Interface”).   

9. On information and belief, Defendants Condé Nast have engaged in such business 

activities in this District and continue to engage in such activities in this District.  On information 

and belief, Defendants Condé Nast own, operate, and/or direct the operation of the website 

www.brides.com, which has an apparatus for manipulating a customer image corresponding to a 

customer at http://www.brides.com/wedding-dresses-style/dressingroom (“Virtual Fitting Interface”).   

10. Defendants provide users with access to their websites and provide users with the 

ability to download, upload, and/or install software required to operate their Virtual Fitting 

Interfaces.   

11. Defendants direct users to operate their Virtual Fitting Interfaces, for example, by 

providing instructions on proper use and operation of their Virtual Fitting Interfaces.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

12. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the 

United States of America, Title 35, United States Code. 

13. This Court has original jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). 

14. Upon information and belief, Defendants are subject to this Court’s general and/or 

specific personal jurisdiction because they (a) are a resident of the State of Delaware; (b) have 
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designated an agent for service of process in the State of Delaware; (c) have committed acts of 

infringement in the State of Delaware as alleged below; and/or (d) are engaged in continuous and 

systematic activities in the State of Delaware.   

15. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(c) and 1400(b).  On 

information and belief, Defendants have a regular and established place of business in this 

district, and/or have transacted business in this District, and/or have committed and/or induced 

acts of patent infringement in this District. 

THE PATENT-IN-SUIT 
 

16. On September 23, 2003, the United States Patent and Trademark Office issued 

United States Patent No. 6,624,843 (“the ‘843 Patent”) entitled “Customer Image Capture and 

Use Thereof in a Retailing System,” a true copy of which is attached as Exhibit A. 

17. LIT is the owner by assignment of the ‘843 Patent and owns all right, title and 

interest in the ‘843 Patent, including the right to sue for and recover all past, present and future 

damages for infringement of the ‘843 Patent. 

CLAIM 1 – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,624,843 
 

18. Defendants have been and are now directly infringing one or more claims of the 

‘843 Patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a) by making, using, selling, offering for sale or 

importing in the United States the computer implemented websites www.tatler.com, which has 

an apparatus for manipulating a customer image corresponding to a customer at 

http://www.tatler.com/news/articles/2011-06/15/tatler-jewellery-promotion and 

www.brides.com, which has an apparatus for manipulating a customer image corresponding to a 

customer at http://www.brides.com/wedding-dresses-style/dressingroom (collectively, “Virtual 

Fitting Interfaces”). 
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19. In addition, and/or in the alternative, Defendants Conde’ Nast have been and/or 

are now indirectly infringing one or more claims of the ‘843 Patent by inducement and/or 

contributory infringement and are continuing to engage in such indirect infringement in violation 

of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b) and/or 35 U.S.C. § 271(c).  Users of Condé Nast’s websites and their 

Virtual Fitting Interfaces are direct infringers of the ‘843 Patent through their use of the 

infringing instrumentalities.  Defendants Condé Nast have induced and continue to induce users 

of their websites and their Virtual Fitting Interfaces to directly infringe one or more claims of the 

‘846 Patent.  By providing their websites, access to their Virtual Fitting Interfaces, and the 

necessary software to operate the same, Defendants Condé Nast contribute to the direct 

infringement by users of their websites and their Virtual Fitting Interfaces. 

20. As a direct and proximate consequence of the acts and practices of the Defendants 

in infringing, directly and/or indirectly, one or more claims of the ‘843 Patent, LIT has suffered, 

is suffering, and will continue to suffer injury and damages for which it is entitled to relief under 

35 U.S.C. § 284 in an amount to be determined at trial. 

21. The limitation of damages provision of 35 U.S.C. § 287(a) is not applicable to 

LIT. 

22. This case presents exceptional circumstances within the meaning of 35 U.S.C. 

§ 285 and LIT is thus entitled to an award of its reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 

23. LIT, under Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, requests a trial by 

jury of any issues so triable.   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Lennon Image Technologies, LLC requests entry of judgment that: 

1. Defendants have infringed the patent-in-suit; 
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2. Defendants account for and pay to Plaintiff all damages caused by their 

infringement of the patent-in-suit; 

3. Plaintiff be granted pre-judgment and post-judgment interest on the damages 

caused to it by reason of one or more of Defendants’ patent infringement; 

4. The Court declare this an exceptional case and that Plaintiff be granted reasonable 

attorneys’ fees in accordance with 35 U.S.C. § 285; 

5. Costs be awarded to Plaintiff; and 

6. Plaintiff be granted such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper under the circumstances. 

 

February 11, 2012    
 

 
 
 
 
OF COUNSEL: 
 
Christopher M. Joe 
Niky Bukovcan 
BUETHER JOE & CARPENTER, LLC 
1700 Pacific Avenue  
Suite 4750  
Dallas, Texas 75201  
(214) 466-1272  
 
 

BAYARD, P.A. 
 
/s/ Richard D. Kirk                                  
Richard D. Kirk (#0922) 
Stephen B. Brauerman (#4552) 
222 Delaware Avenue, Suite 900 
P.O. Box 25130 
Wilmington, DE 19899 
(302) 655-5000 
rkirk@bayardlaw.com 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF LENNON 
IMAGE TECHNOLOGIES, LLC 
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(12) United States Patent 
Lennon 

(54) CUSTOMER IMAGE CAPTURE AND USE 
THEREOF IN A RETAILING SYSTEM 

(76) Inventor: Jerry W. Lennon, 7719 Butternut Ct., 
Woodridge, IL (US) 60517 

( *) Notice: Subject to any disclaimer, the term of this 
patent is extended or adjusted under 35 
U.S.C. 154(b) by 384 days. 

(21) Appl. No.: 09/733,197 

(22) 

(65) 

(60) 

(51) 
(52) 
(58) 

(56) 

Filed: Dec. 8, 2000 

Prior Publication Data 

US 2002/0073077 A1 Jun. 13, 2002 

Related U.S. Application Data 
Provisional application No. 60/170,057, filed on Dec. 10, 
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(57) ABSTRACT 

In a retailing system, an image capture system is provided 
and used to capture reference images of models wearing 
apparel items. At a retailer's place of business, an image 
capture system substantially identical to that used to capture 
the reference images is also provided. A customer has his or 
her image captured by the image capture system at the 
retailer's place of business. Subsequently, when the cus­
tomer is in close proximity to an image display area within 
the retailer's place of business, a composite image compris­
ing the customer's captured image and one of the reference 
images may be provided. The composite image may com­
prise full motion video or still images. In this manner, the 
customer is given the opportunity to virtually assess the 
selected merchandise without actually having to try on the 
apparel. 

20 Claims, 4 Drawing Sheets 
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CUSTOMER IMAGE CAPTURE AND USE 
THEREOF IN A RETAILING SYSTEM 

CROSS-REFERENCE TO RELATED 
APPLICATIONS 

The present application claims priority from U.S. patent 
application Ser. No. 60/170,057 entitled "A METHOD AND 
APPARATUS FOR CAPTURING IMAGE FORMS AND 
CHANGING CLOTHING TYPES ON THE IMAGE 
FORM" filed on Dec. 10, 1999. 

TECHNICAL FIELD 

The present invention is generally related to commercial 
systems and, in particular, to method and apparatus for 
capturing a person's image and using the captured image in 
a retailing system. 

BACKGROUND OF THE INVENTION 

"Putting the pants on" the customer is a long-standing 
term used in the fashion industry to explain to salespeople 
the need to show potential customers how they will look in 
various clothing styles. Tailors often said that a sale was not 
made until the customer "puts on the pants." When a 
customer tries on various clothing styles and colors, the 
process is very time consuming. The need exists for the 
customer to see a variety of clothing styles and colors 
applied to his/her body type to form an idea of how a 
particular clothing style or color will look on that person. 

One attempt to address this need has been through the use 
of so-called virtual models. An example of such a system is 
found at the web site (http://www.landsend.com) for Land's 
End, Inc. By responding to a series of prompts regarding 
body shape, skin tone, hairstyle, eye shape, measurements 
etc, a customer is able to generate a computer simulation that 
approximates the customer's silhouette. The simulation or 
virtual model can be saved and recalled for later use. Having 
created a virtual model, the customer can select various 
clothing styles for display using the virtual model. In this 
manner, the customer is provided an approximation as to 
appropriate sizes. However, by its very nature, the virtual 
model provides virtually no detail regarding the customer's 
actual appearance. Additionally, the virtual model is gener­
ally displayed as a static image on a generic background. 
That is, the customer is not able to assess the appearance of 
the selected merchandise as it would appear when the 
customer is actually moving around within a variety of 
background settings. 

U.S. Pat. No. 5,551,021 issued to Harada et al. (the 
"Harada patent") also discloses a system in which images of 
customers (captured through the use of a still image camera) 
are electronically stored. Later, when a customer is contem­
plating additional clothing purchases, a store clerk operating 
the system is able to recall the customer's image and display 

2 
image of a customer without the attendant limitations of 
prior art systems. Such a system would reduce shopping 
time for the customer because the customer does not have to 
physically try on articles of clothing. Additionally, there 

5 would be less likelihood of the customer returning an untried 
article of clothing or deciding that the clothing style does not 
fit or is unflattering or does not coincide with the fashion 
image the customer desires to portray, thereby saving mer­
chants the cost of returned items. 

10 SUMMARY OF THE INVENTION 

The present invention allows apparel retailers and other 
purveyors of such items an opportunity to virtually "dress" 
the potential customer in featured merchandise as a virtual 

15 "fitting." As used herein, apparel includes clothing, acces­
sories or any other items for which customer purchase 
decisions are typically based in part upon how the item 
appears when used by the customer. Through manipulation 
of digitized images, an image of the customer in a new 

20 apparel style is displayed. In addition, the image of the 
customer wearing the new apparel style can be shown under 
different lighting and background conditions such as in the 
evening at a restaurant, in a very dark dance hall, in a 
moderately lit boardroom, or walking along a downtown 

25 street during daylight hours. Sound effects and music can 
also be added to offer a fuller, more intense-effect viewing 
environment and enhance the entertainment aspects pro­
vided by the present invention. 

The computer system is capable of merging video or still 
30 images of live, ordinary customers with video or still images 

of stored reference model images wearing the apparel. The 
computer system retrieves the stored reference images from 
a database and applies the stored reference image to the 
digitized image of the customer's body. The potential cus-

35 tamer is shown in the featured apparel (the stored reference 
image) by displaying the composite image on a video 
display. The composite can be offered as a still picture or 
animated to a specific situation. In one embodiment of the 
present invention, routing of store traffic through a pre-

40 defined walkway facilitates capture of customer images. To 
maximize the quality of the composite image, the walkway 
preferably has the same physical characteristics and lighting 
to that used in obtaining the reference images. Knowledge 
(or estimates) of a potential customer's weight and body 

45 height helps ensure a close match of the stored reference 
images to the captured image, creating a more realistic 
viewing of how the apparel style or color will look on the 
potential customer. The computer is capable of distinguish­
ing differences between body sizes and is capable of filling 

50 in variations. A value system or weighting system assigns a 
value to distinguish the various body forms of customers. 

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE DRAWINGS 

a composite of the customer's image with clothes that the 55 

customer has previously tried on or already owns. In this 
manner, the store clerk may better advise the client in 
coordinating contemplated purchases with clothes previ­
ously considered or owned by the customer. However, the 
Harada patent suffers from the same limitations as the virtual 60 

model system described above. Additionally, the Harada 
patent only displays the customer's image in conjunction 
with clothing already considered or owned, and does not 
allow the customer to see clothing styles that he or she is 
currently considering applied to his or her image. 65 

In the detailed description of presently preferred embodi­
ments of the present invention which follows, reference will 
be made to the drawings comprised of the following figures, 
wherein like reference numerals refer to like elements in the 
various views and wherein: 

FIG. 1 is a block diagram of a computer-based system in 
accordance with the present invention; 

FIG. 2 is a flowchart illustrating a method in accordance 
with the present invention; 

FIG. 3 is a flowchart illustrating capture of at least one 
reference image in accordance with the present invention; 

FIG. 4 is a flowchart illustrating capture of at least one 
customer image in accordance with the present invention; 
and 

Thus, it would be advantageous to provide a computer­
ized system whereby clothing styles are applied to an actual 
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FIG. 5 is a flowchart illustrating display of a composite 
image in accordance with the present invention. 

DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF 1HE 
INVENTION 

The present invention is more readily described with 
reference to FIGS. 1-5. FIG. 1 illustrates a computer-based 
system 100 in accordance with the present invention. The 
system 100 comprises a controller 102 coupled to an image 
capture system 104, databases 106, an image display system 
108, a public communication network 110, a private com­
munication network 112 and one or more trigger devices 
116. The controller 102 may comprise one or more com­
puters or servers capable of executing software instructions 
stored in memory (e.g., volatile or non-volatile digital stor­
age devices) via a suitable processor (e.g., microprocessor, 
microcontroller, digital signal processor or the like or com­
binations thereof). As described in greater detail below, the 
image capture system 104 comprises one or more image 
capture devices, such as at least one full motion video 
camera or at least one still image camera, or a combination 
thereof. In a preferred embodiment, the image capture 
devices provide a digital signal output, although an analog 
output that is subsequently converted to digital form may 
also be used. The controller 102 is coupled to databases 106 
for the storage of images captured by the image capture 
system 104. Information correlating captured customer 
images to particular customers, as well as other data describ­
ing each customer's body type, etc. may also be stored in the 
databases 106. Furthermore, the databases 106 preferably 
comprise stored apparel style or reference images described 
in greater detail below. Although multiple databases 106 are 
illustrated in FIG. 1 and referred to in this description, those 
having ordinary skill in the art will recognize that a single 
database of sufficient storage capacity could be used. 

4 
updated customer information) to the controller 102 via 
either or both of the public and private communication 
networks 110, 112. Communications via the either or both of 
the public and private communication networks 110, 112 can 

5 be implemented using secure access links, as known in the 
art. 

Using the system 100 described above, the present inven­
tion provides retailers or other providers of apparel the 
opportunity to let customers visually assess the items with-

10 out having to actually try the item on. To achieve this, the 
present invention provides a three-step process generally 
illustrated in FIG. 2. At step 202, one or more reference 
images are captured. In the context of the present invention, 
a captured image has been edited or modified as necessary 

15 and stored for later access. Reference images comprise 
various apparel items as worn by models and edited to 
remove at least some portions of the image other than the 
apparel item being worn, i.e., the models' face, hair, hands, 
legs, etc. At step 204, one more customer images are 

20 captured. Note that both the reference images and the 
customer images may comprise full motion video or still 
images. In contrast to the reference images, the customer 
images, when edited, may include only the customers' face, 
hair, hands, etc. Then, at step 206, a composite image 

25 comprising any one of the reference images and any one of 
the customer images is generated and displayed. In effect, 
the composite image combines each customer's actual 
appearance (as dictated by his or her facial features, hair 
color, etc.) with an image of the desired apparel item as it 

30 would appear when worn by a person having a similar body 
shape to the customer. In this manner, the customer is able 
to more accurately assess the appearance of the item when 
worn by the customer without having to actually try on the 
item. Each of the steps illustrated in FIG. 2 are more fully 

35 described with reference to FIGS. 3-5 below. As those 
The image display system 108 preferably comprises at 

least one display screen capable of displaying high-quality 
video or still images. When deployed in a retail 
environment, several such display screens may be placed 
throughout the business such that a plurality of customers 40 

may be simultaneously using the system 100 at any given 
moment. In a distributed computing environment, the image 
display system 108 may also include one or more computers, 

having ordinary skill in the art will recognize, certain steps 
described relative to FIGS. 3-5 may be implemented as 
stored software instructions executed by a suitable proces­
sor. 

Referring now to FIG. 3, a process for obtaining reference 
images is described in greater detail. At step 302, a con­
trolled environment for obtaining images of the apparel 
items, as worn by models, is provided. As used herein, the 
phrase "controlled environment" encompasses a environ­
ment that is reproducible, particularly as part of the image 
capture system 104 of FIG. 1. To this end, the controlled 

or similar computing platforms and associated memory, 
capable of performing image manipulations described 45 

below. The image display system 108 allows composite 
images, comprising one or more captured customer images 
combined with one or more of the stored reference images, 
to be displayed to a customer in close proximity to one of the 
display screens. The trigger devices 116, each preferably 50 

deployed integrally with or in close proximity to the display 
screens, may be activated through direct customer input or 
automatically. Examples of suitable trigger devices 116 
include, but are not limited to, keypads, card readers, touch 
screens, cameras or the like or combinations of such devices. 55 

When activated, each trigger device 116 informs the con­
troller 102 of the presence of a customer 114 near a display 
screen, thereby initiating display of an appropriate compos-
ite image. 

environment preferably comprises at least one CCD digital 
video camera (e.g. DNEll or EditCam) capable of recording 
digital images to the memory of a computer. Any computer 
capable of storing and processing large amounts of digital 
images may be used for this purpose. Because of the data 
storage requirements inherent in digital video, large memory 
storage systems are typically required, particular for high­
quality images. A runway is provided of sufficient length 
such that up to twenty seconds of video data could be 
obtained of a model traversing the runway at a normal 
walking pace. Physical layouts other than a runway are 
possible. In a preferred embodiment, one or more fixed, 
vertical posts are erected at the end of or along the runway 

The public communication network 110, such as the 
Internet or World Wide Web, or the private communication 
network 112, such as a retailer's intranet or extranet, allows 
customers 114 to access composite images or other customer 
information (such as account information, biometric data, 
preferences, etc.) via the controller 102. Conversely, the 
customer 114 can provide data, such as one or more cus­
tomer images for use in generating composite images or 

60 with a camera array or lens array mounted at 62 inches (1.57 
meters), 64 inches (1.63 meters), 66 inches (1.68 meters), 68 
inches (1.73 meters) and 70 inches (1.78 meters). Of course, 
other mounting heights can be selected as a matter of design 
choice. Similarly equipped posts at forty-five degree angles 

65 relative to the end post(s) are also preferably provided in 
order to capture a full 180° view, although other ranges are 
possible. Selection and positioning of lighting elements are 
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preferably determined according to well-understood lighting 
principles in order to best capture the image of the selected 
apparel and to achieve the desired effect of shadows, etc. 
Additional lighting effects can be added or modified during 
editing to add background or fine tune the image transfor- 5 
mation prior to archiving the reference images. 

Preferably, the merchant who desires to market fashion 
merchandise using the present invention selects the desired 
range of body sizes for each selected apparel style. The 
merchant selects the background to match the garment's 10 
VAT (Value, Attitude and Trend) to the potential customer, 
as envisioned by the merchant. Subsequently, at steps 304 
and 306, reference images are obtained. To this end, video 
or still images of models, having a variety of body sizes 
typical to the majority of potential customer' body forms 15 
and wearing corresponding sizes of the selected apparel 
item, are taken within the controlled environment, i.e., 
walking down the runway. Techniques such as retrolooping 
may be employed to minimize the number models needed to 
capture images for each of the desired sizes and body types. 20 
Prior to recording, a visual reference may be referred to 
gauge apparel sizes. Preferably, the images of the models are 
captured before a blank background, such as a uniformly 
blue or green screen, depending on the color of the apparel 
being worn. Additionally, the models preferably wear a hood 25 
or cowl, gloves, leggings etc of the same color. This facili­
tates the process of editing out the extremities of the models 
(e.g., head, hair, hands, legs etc) as well as the addition of 
suitable background images. As the images are obtained, 
they are preferably stored directly to memory residing in a 30 
computer or similar device. Alternatively, the images could 
be stored within the one or more cameras for subsequent 
downloading. Steps 304 and 306 are repeated until the 
desired range of images is obtained. 

When a sufficient number of body sizes and types are 35 

recorded for a given apparel item, the images are edited at 
step 308 to remove the parts of the image other than the 
apparel style, i.e., the models' face, hair, hands, legs, etc. 
Such editing can be accomplished using existing software 
such as Avid Softlmage or Adobe After Effects. Using these 40 

programs, the editor makes creative choices regarding 
diminishment of these elements, or adding shoes or fashion 
accessories to enhance the overall effect to accommodate 
different styles of the apparel item. To this end, the editor 
may rely on special instructions that allow for a low-cut 45 

garments, replacing long or short sleeve lengths, add or 
eliminate certain areas in order to obtain a best fit, etc. 
Lighting or shadows can be added or eliminated and suitable 
background images matted into the images. Further still, 
additional effects such as sound effects or background music 50 

can be added to the references images. 
At step 310, the edited reference images are stored, for 

example, in the database 106 shown in FIG. 1. Storage 
programs and visual pattern recognition programs are used 
to create the database of edited apparel styles. The edited 55 

apparel styles may be stored separately or combined with 
other meta information, i.e., information that describes each 
reference image in some manner, such as identification of 
each apparel style, body type, etc. Once the edited apparel 
style data is stored, the client (merchant) has the opportunity 60 

to approve, and request further edits of, the stored reference 
images. At this point, the stored reference images are ready 
to be combined with customer images. The merchant pref­
erably identifies potential customers based, for example, on 
mailing or customer lists, surveys or using any other means 65 

known in the art. Once the potential customers are identified, 
a flyer or incentive notice can be mailed to the customer or 

6 
otherwise published in order to give the potential customer 
sufficient incentive to use the commercial system of the 
present invention. The mailing can be a cooperative effort 
between the merchant implementing the retailing system and 
some other organization, such as a apparel designer. The 
process of capturing customer images is further described 
with reference to FIG. 4. 

Referring now to FIG. 4, a process for obtaining customer 
images is described in greater detail. At step 402, a con­
trolled environment as closely identical as practicable to that 
used to capture the reference images (described above 
relative to FIG. 3) is provided within the image capture 
system 104. In particular, the physical construction of the 
runway, the lighting angles, color and intensities, etc. are 
substantially similar to those used to capture the reference 
images. The construction of the image capture area is 
preferably flexible in design, portable and lightweight, and 
strong enough to support equipment such as display moni­
tors and cameras. Several alternative placements of the 
controlled environment are described below. 

At step 404, a customer enters the controlled environment 
of the image capture system 104 and activates image cap­
ture. Using known techniques (e.g., motion detection or 
pattern recognition), the activation of image capture is 
preferably performed automatically. However, in an alter­
nate embodiment, an operator may be provided to assist the 
customer and manually activate image capture; such an 
implementation may be preferable in some instances in 
order to personalize the experience. In order to capture the 
customer's image at step 406, the customer walks along the 
runway of the controlled environment. Preferably, an initial 
reference point is provided within the controlled environ­
ment to properly align the customer at the same starting 
point used by the models during capture of the reference 
images. Because of the similarity of the controlled environ­
ments used, the same camera angles and heights are used 
when acquiring the customer's body image. The similarity 
of the resulting customer images to the stored reference 
images allows a more accurate determination of the custom­
er's biometrics, i.e., body size and shape. 

At step 408, it is determined whether the image(s) cap­
tured at step 406 is valid. Using existing biometrics identi­
fication software such as !magis ID 2000, a valid event 
occurs when a full face comprising eyes, a nose, mouth, etc. 
is detected. Where a camera array or lens array is used, the 
camera or lens with the greatest approximate validity (i.e., 
most of the face) would be used as the recording camera. A 
minimum of seven to ten seconds is considered sufficient to 
capture a valid event. In this time, eye-level, height, weight 
and body type can be identified. Two additional posts could 
be erected at forty-five degree angles to the main post. 
Camera array or lense arrays can be mounted to the other 
posts and activated according to their relationship to the 
camera determined to be the recording camera on the main 
post. Although this is not necessary, this arrangement can be 
used to obtain a full 180 degrees or more of image. If the 
image captured at step 406 is not valid, the process of 
obtaining the customer's image (i.e., step 406) is repeated 
until a valid image is obtained. 

At step 410, the valid customer image(s) is stored in 
memory, for example, the database 106 of FIG. 1. In one 
embodiment of the present invention, storage may be long 
term, thereby allowing the customer's image to be accessed 
at any time, or may be short term, i.e., for the duration of a 
single event. Storage preferably occurs after the customer 
has manifested his or her approval of the process. For 
example, where the customer was sent a promotion (such as 
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a piece of die cut cardboard or the like) that uniquely 
identifies that customer (e.g., through the use of a bar code 
or other data), the customer can cause the image capture 
system to accept the customer's information encoded 
therein. In this manner, the customer identification inform a- 5 
tion can be associated with the customer's image. 
Alternatively, an input device (keypad, touch screen, etc.) 
can be provided as part of the image capture system such 
that the user is able to approve of the captured image and 
enter his or her identification information. Regardless, 10 
assuming that the customer's image is stored, along with 
information identifying the customer, a body type value is 
assigned to the customer's image at step 412. This is 
preferably done by an operator of the system. Standard body 
and garment measurements are defined in FashionDex's 15 
"Apparel Design and Production Handbook", the teachings 
of which are incorporated herein by this reference. Suitable 
body types include, but are not necessarily limited to, small, 
medium and large and subsets of petite and full size as 
established by FashionDex. Once stored, the customer's 20 
image may be made available to the customer via the public 
or private networks 110, 112. Additionally, the customer's 
image may be made available for use with other retailers 
having access to the databases 106. Further still, a code is 
assigned to the customer's stored body image, which code is 25 
given to the potential customer for use in any of the 
participating merchant stores, as described in greater detail 
below. 

8 
software provides an indication whether the customer cur­
rently within the image display area is represented within the 
stored customer images. If a sufficiently similar match is 
found, the trigger event is deemed valid at step 506. If a 
sufficiently similar match is not found, but several candidate 
matches are identified, the customer may be provided with 
information (i.e., names) associated with the candidate 
images and asked to provide data (e.g., a password or the 
code previously associated with the customer's stored 
image) sufficient to correlate the customer with one of the 
candidate images. 

In another embodiment, rather than using camera and 
recognition software, the trigger device 116 comprises a data 
entry device, such as a keypad, touch screen, voice recog­
nition interface or other similar device that allows a cus­
tomer to input data uniquely associated with them. For 
example, when a customer encounters an image display area 
and wishes to view of composite image of themselves in a 
given apparel item, he or she can enter the code previously 
provided when the customer's image was captured (see 
discussion regarding FIG. 4 above). Other information 
capable of uniquely identifying individual customers 
includes, but is not limited to, account numbers, passwords 
and biometric information (e.g., voice prints, fingerprints, 
retinal scans, etc.). Regardless, if the data input by the 
customer matches data associated with any of the stored 
customer images, then it is determined at step 506 that a 
valid event has occurred. 

If a valid event is not identified at step 506, processing Referring now to FIG. 5, a process for displaying com­
posite images is described in greater detail. At step 502, a 
customer enters an image display area (e.g., approaches a 
display screen) of the image display system 108. In a retail 
other merchandising environment, the image display areas 
are preferably positioned throughout the environment in 
close proximity to certain apparel items for which stored 
reference images are available. In another embodiment, the 
display area may be completely separate from a retailer's 
place of business, i.e., within another place of business or 
even the customer's home. 

30 continues at step 508 where the customer is informed that no 
match was made. Optionally, the customer may be prompted 
at this step to try again or, if they have not already had their 
image stored in accordance with the process of FIG. 4, they 
may be prompted to go to the image capture area 104 for 

35 appropriate processing. 
At step 510, the customer is prompted whether they wish 

to have a composite image created. In one embodiment, the 
customer is informed that if they approve the generation of 
such a composite image, then they also approve of the use 

At step 504, it is determined whether a trigger device 116 
has been activated. In the context of the present invention, 
activation of a trigger device at a minimum indicates that a 
customer is in close proximity to an image display area 
because the trigger devices are preferably integral with or in 
close proximity to the device used for display purposes. A 
variety of trigger implementations are possible. In one 
embodiment of the present invention, the trigger device 116 
comprises a camera positioned to detect the presence of a 
person in viewing position relative to the image display area. 

40 of the composite image throughout the entire store or in 
proximity to the trigger area. Preferably, an approval screen 
is displayed outlining theses terms and conditions. If, at step 
512, the customer does not respond (typically within a 
predetermined of time) or rejects the offer to have a com-

45 posite image displayed, then processing continues at step 
502. 

In this case, a trigger event occurs, for example, if the 50 

customer remains within the image display area for at least 
a predetermine amount of time, e.g., 7 or more seconds. 
Suitable cameras for this purpose include any charge­
coupled device (CCD) three chip color video camera such as 
the Sony TRY 900 operating in conjunction with suitable 55 

pattern recognition programs such as !magis Cascade ID 
2000. The camera provides video or still image data to 
software, executed by either the controller 102 or a distrib­
uted computing platform included in the image display 
system 108, capable of pattern recognition. The pattern 60 

recognition software, such as that found in the Virage 
Videologger with Image Recognition retrieval, tags and 
retrieves the customer's image from the image display area 
with known reference points corresponding to the stored 
customer images. By comparing the features of the custom- 65 

er's face, as captured by the camera at the image display 
area, with the stored customer images, the recognition 

If, however, the customer does respond in the affirmative 
at step 512, a composite image comprising the customer's 
captured image (as identified at step 506) combined with a 
reference image of the selected apparel item is generated at 
step 514. Techniques for merging elements from separate 
video or still image sources are well known in the art as 
embodied, for example, in Adobe's After Affects Producer 
bundle program. The composite image comprises elements 
unique to the customer (i.e., face, hair, hands, legs, etc.) 
taken from the customer's captured image combined with 
the image of the apparel in the ambience background. Thus, 
the composite image, when displayed, provides a more 
realistic depiction of what the customer would look like in 
the selected apparel in the appropriate background. The 
particular stored reference image used to generate the com­
posite image is selected based on a number of criteria. As 
note above, each of the display areas is preferably associated 
with a particular apparel item. In this manner, requests for 
composite images from a particular display area may be 
correlated with the apparel item associated with that par­
ticular display area. Additionally, the customer's size or 
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In a fourth alternative business model, a temporary dome 
or facility is erected within a common area of a shopping 
mall or the like. In this model, it is assumed that more than 
one retailer will sponsor and participate in the event. Within 

body type, as determined by the data stored along with the 
customer's image, is used to access the appropriate reference 
image within a group of reference images corresponding to 
the apparel item. Furthermore, when the customer's image is 
first captured, the customer may fill out a questionnaire in 
order to better determine the customer's particular tastes. 
Based on this information, an appropriate reference image 
may be selected. Further still, the customer may be allowed 

5 the dome, several different image capture areas are provided. 
Once a customer's image is captured, that customer has an 
incentive to visit one of the participating retailers. Each 
customer image captured at the dome can be conveyed to 
each retailer's database. At each of the participating retail-to directly enter requests (for example, in response to the 

same questionnaire or without prompting) for other apparel 
styles or colors from the images stored in the database. 

10 ers' place of business, image display systems are deployed 
as described above for the display of composite images 
based on each retailer's particular apparel line. In one embodiment of the present invention, the controller 

102 accesses the necessary customer and reference images 
and generates the composite image. In another embodiment, 
particularly applicable to a distributed computing system, 

15 
the controller 102 accesses the necessary customer and 
reference images and sends them to a computing device 
resident in the image display system 108, i.e., the display 
from which the request for the composite image was 
received. The computing device that receives the customer 

20 
and reference images from the controller 102 then generates 
the composite image. Regardless of the manner in which the 
composite image is generated, the composite image is dis­
played at step 516 on the display. Additionally, the compos-

In a fifth alternative business model, the customer's 
captured image can be stored in a personal communication 
device, such as a cell phone, personal digital assistant (PDA) 
or palmtop computer. In this manner, the customer can 
selectively provide his or her image with any of a variety of 
retailers equipped to display composite images in accor-
dance with the present invention. 

While the foregoing detailed description sets forth pres­
ently preferred embodiments of the invention, it will be 
understood that many variations may be made to the 
embodiments disclosed herein without departing from the 
true spirit and scope of the invention. This true spirit and 
scope of the present invention is defined by the appended 
claims, to be interpreted in light of the foregoing specifica­
tions. 

What is claimed is: 

ite image can be stored on a removable media such as a 
25 

compact disc (CD) or digital video disc (DVD) and given to 
the customer for later reference. If the customer has an 
established e-mail address, the composite image can be sent 
via the public or private communication networks 110, 112 
to the e-mail address provided. In another alternative, if the 
merchant has an interactive and secure World Wide Web or 
Internet web site, the customer can be permitted to access 
their digitized body image and generate composite images 
with the merchants apparel images. The customer can then 
order the garment directly over the web without the cus-

35 
tamer actually visiting the store. 

1. An apparatus for manipulating a customer image cor-
30 responding to a customer, comprising: 

The techniques described above may be described as a 
business-to-business model in which a commercial provider 
provides the retailing system 100 and all support needed to 
implement it to a merchant or retailer. However, a variety of 40 
other business models may be used to implement the present 
invention. 

a controller; 
an image capture system, coupled to the controller, that 

captures the customer image of the customer and 
provides the customer image to the controller; 

a database, coupled to the controller, for storing the 
customer image and at least one apparel style image 
corresponding to a potential purchase item; and 

an image display system, coupled to the controller, for 
displaying a composite image comprising the customer 
image and any one of the at least one apparel style 
image thereby allowing the customer to assess the 
potential purchase item without having to try it on. In a first alternative business model, a jetway used 

between an airport gate terminal and an aircraft is used as the 
runway portion of the controlled environment described 
above relative to FIGS. 3 and 4. The image display system 
108 is incorporated into the aircraft, with trigger devices 116 
provided in the form of cameras mounted in seatbacks. 
Authorization to display composite images may be mani­
fested through an input device incorporated into a seatback 
display screen or mounted on an armrest or other convenient 
location. Based on the display of the composite images, 
orders may be taken on the plane and fulfilled upon reaching 
the flight destination, assuming availability of fulfillment 
centers at the destination. 

2. The apparatus of claim 1, wherein the image capture 
45 system comprises a controlled environment substantially 

similar to another controlled environment used to capture 
the at least one apparel style image. 

3. The apparatus of claim 1, wherein the image capture 
system comprises a digital camera, and wherein the at least 

50 one apparel style image and the customer image comprise 
full motion video. 

55 
In a second alternative business model, the image display 

system 108 is incorporated into a hotel room or publicly 
available kiosk. The merchandise available for display is 
preferably tailored to the specific environment, e.g., beach­
wear at a resort hotel. In this model, fulfillment of any orders 60 

taken may need to be done remotely. 
In a third alternative business model, the reference images 

are limited to uniforms or other standardized apparel. This 
model is particularly applicable to large corporations (e.g., 
McDonalds, United Airlines, etc.) or the military where 65 

workers are required to wear apparel that fall strictly within 
corporate or government guidelines. 

4. The apparatus of claim 1, wherein the controller 
generates the composite image and provides the composite 
image to the image display system. 

5. The apparatus of claim 1, wherein the controller 
provides the customer image and one of the at least one 
apparel style image to the image display system, and 
wherein the image display system generates the composite 
image from the customer image and the one of the at least 
one apparel style image. 

6. The apparatus of claim 1, further comprising: 
a trigger device, coupled to the controller, that detects the 

presence of the customer and, in response, causes the 
composite image to be displayed by the image display 
system. 

7. The apparatus of claim 6, wherein the trigger device 
comprises a data input device that provides customer iden-
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tification information, input by the customer, to the 
controller, and wherein correspondence of the customer 
identification information to the customer image causes the 
composite image to be displayed. 

8. The apparatus of claim 6, wherein the trigger device 5 

comprises a camera, coupled to the controller, that captures 
an authentication image of the customer when the customer 
is in proximity to the camera, and wherein correspondence 

12 
storing the customer image, 

wherein the step of generating the composite image 
further comprises retrieving the customer image in 
response to a request for the composite image. 

15. The method of claim 14, wherein the at least one 
apparel style image and the customer image comprise full 
motion video. 

of the authentication image to the customer image causes the 
composite image to be displayed. 

16. The method of claim 14, wherein the step of gener-
10 ating the composite image further comprises: 

9. The apparatus of claim 6, wherein the trigger device is 
associated with the potential purchase item, and wherein the 
one of the at least one apparel style image used to generate 
the composite image corresponds to the potential purchase 
item. 

10. A commercial system comprising the apparatus of 
claim 6, wherein the image capture system is deployed in a 
jetway, and the trigger device and image display system are 
deployed within a seatback on an airplane. 

15 

11. A commercial system comprising the apparatus of 20 

claim 6, wherein the image display system is deployed 
within a hotel room. 

analyzing the customer image to select a body type 
corresponding to the customer image; and 

selecting the one of the at least one apparel style image 
based on the body type. 

17. The method of claim 14, wherein the step of display­
ing further comprises: 

detecting presence of a person near a display; 

determining that the person corresponds to the customer 
image; and 

displaying the composite image in response to the step of 
determining. 

18. The method of claim 17, wherein the step of deter-

12. A commercial system comprising the apparatus of 
claim 6, wherein the image display system is deployed 
within a publicly available kiosk. 

13. A commercial system comprising the apparatus of 
claim 6, wherein the image capture system is deployed 
within a common area of a shopping mall, and the image 
display system is deployed within at least one retailer 
residing in the shopping mall. 

25 mining further comprises comparing biometric information 
of the person with the customer image. 

19. The method of claim 17, wherein the step of deter­
mining further comprises receiving, from the person, data 

30 
uniquely associated with the customer image. 

14. A method for manipulating a customer image corre­
sponding to a customer, the method comprising: 

capturing the customer image; 
generating a composite image comprising the customer 

image and one of at least one apparel style image 35 

corresponding to a potential purchase item; 
displaying the composite image thereby allowing the 

customer to assess the potential purchase item without 
having to try it on; and 

20. The method of claim 14, wherein the step of display­
ing further comprises: 

detecting a presence of a person near a display; 

determining that the person does not correspond of the 
customer image; and 

informing the person about a subsequent ac wn m 
response to the step of determining. 

* * * * * 
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